

Early Journal Content on JSTOR, Free to Anyone in the World

This article is one of nearly 500,000 scholarly works digitized and made freely available to everyone in the world by JSTOR.

Known as the Early Journal Content, this set of works include research articles, news, letters, and other writings published in more than 200 of the oldest leading academic journals. The works date from the mid-seventeenth to the early twentieth centuries.

We encourage people to read and share the Early Journal Content openly and to tell others that this resource exists. People may post this content online or redistribute in any way for non-commercial purposes.

Read more about Early Journal Content at <u>http://about.jstor.org/participate-jstor/individuals/early-journal-content</u>.

JSTOR is a digital library of academic journals, books, and primary source objects. JSTOR helps people discover, use, and build upon a wide range of content through a powerful research and teaching platform, and preserves this content for future generations. JSTOR is part of ITHAKA, a not-for-profit organization that also includes Ithaka S+R and Portico. For more information about JSTOR, please contact support@jstor.org.

tales with which he used to thrill his grandchildren was one describing his experiences at Waterloo, where the comrade on each side of him was killed, and when he turned to help the artilleryman behind him he, too, was killed. One son of Pauli died in Roxbury; another is believed to have lost his life in the Galveston flood of some years ago; while a daughter, Mrs. Phillipi, was recently living at Alma, Wisconsin.

If the other two soldiers referred to by Steele are buried in the Roxbury cemetery, their graves are not so conspicuously marked as Pauli's. As it was the practice a generation ago of placing iron or wooden crosses above family lots in this cemetery, it is possible that these veterans are buried under such memorials of which many still remain, but whose inscriptions have been obliterated by time and the elements. Their graves should now be sought out and made known.

In the meantime it would be interesting to learn of any other soldiers in the Napoleonic wars who are buried in Wisconsin. Will not the readers of this magazine report any such instances of which they may learn? It is said that Sauk County has one or more. Doubtless the same is true of Milwaukee and other lake shore counties.

Albert O. Barton

BENJAMIN HYDE EDGERTON: WISCONSIN PIONEER

Benjamin Hyde Edgerton was born in Saybrook near Norwich, Connecticut, April 17, 1811, the eldest son of Elisha and Diana Hyde Edgerton. Later the family removed to Taberg near Rome, New York, then considered very far west, where Elisha Edgerton purchased a farm and where the subject of this sketch remained until his twelfth year. He then removed to Buffalo and engaged in various pursuits, none entirely congenial until he took up the study of land surveying.

It may be mentioned here in chronological order that he was closely related to the Fillmores of Buffalo—President Fillmore and he being first cousins; but there is no record that this connection was any aid to him in his early struggle for an education and a career. In the early thirties he moved to Green Bay, Wisconsin, then a thriving village in the very far West, and was there employed on United States Government surveys, all the time studiously preparing himself for the profession of civil engineer. For this he became amply equipped and made it his life work until about the year 1870, when for a short period he engaged in the real estate and insurance business in Milwaukee.

Having finished his work in Green Bay in 1835, Mr. Edgerton rolled his earthly possessions into a bundle, strapped it on the back of an Indian pony, and traveled southward through the wilderness, following Indian trails through woods, prairies, streams, and swamps, until he reached what was afterwards known as Kilbourntown, from the heights of which he had his first view of what is now the metropolis of Wisconsin. He beheld cornfields, wigwams, and the cabins of a few white settlers; among them, that of Solomon Juneau, which stood on the bank of the Milwaukee River, at the intersection of what is now East Water and Wisconsin Streets. For a time the cabin of Juneau was his home: and often in after years he told of his high living there, when Mrs. Juneau's acorn pies were the one great He resumed his profession of surveyor and engineer: luxury. as the population increased he platted what is now the older part of Milwaukee, named many of the streets, and for a long period took an active part in its civic and social life.

In the early fifties the extension of railways into and through the West enlarged Mr. Edgerton's field of activities, and he became a pioneer in Wisconsin's railway development. The first railroad to be constructed was the Milwaukee and Mississippi River Railway, of which Mr. Edward H. Brodhead was the first chief engineer; Mr. Edgerton was assistant engineer until the completion of the road to Waukesha, which place remained for a short period the terminus of the road. Upon its extension to Madison and the Mississippi River at Prairie du Chien Mr. Edgerton became chief engineer and removed from Milwaukee to Madison in 1853, where he purchased a home on the shore of Lake Mendota. After a residence of several years in the capital city, the railroad being completed to the Mississippi, he removed to Milwaukee, where the general offices of the railway were located.

It may be mentioned here that the town of Edgerton in Rock County was named after him. He also surveyed the Janesville and Monroe branch of the railway, which leaves the main line at Milton Junction. Mr. Edgerton was afterwards engaged on other railway projects and surveys. He was engineerin-chief of the Milwaukee and Northern Railroad surveying the line to Green Bay with a branch to Menasha, Neenah, and Appleton. It is a striking coincidence that Mr. Edgerton in after years was to make a pathway for the iron trail and locomotive to Green Bay across the same wilderness through which in the early thirties he had journeved southward over the old Indian trails. He was also chief engineer of the McGregor Western Railway in Iowa, on which line he established the present thriving city of Cresco, and in partnership with Augustus Beadle was owner of the town site. He was also engineer-in-chief of the Kansas Southern Railroad; and the town of Edgerton on that line, in Johnson County, Kansas, was named after him.

In connection with Daniel L. Wells (of Wells, French & Co.) and Alexander Graham of Whitewater, Wisconsin, Mr. Edgerton built part of what is now known as the Vandalia line, now a part of the great Pennsylvania system. He was also at one time paymaster and superintendent of what is now the Prairie du Chien division of the Chicago Milwaukee and St. Paul system.

Mr. Edgerton was essentially a man of domestic tendencies. Because his engineering occupation kept him so much from home, he finally withdrew from all such interests and established himself in one that permitted him to enjoy more of the privileges of home life. Among the pioneer residents of Milwaukee was Dr. Algernon Sidney Hosmer, for a time the popular host of the old "Milwaukee House." On June 7, 1838 one of his daughters, Sophia Hosmer, became the bride of Mr. Edgerton.

For many years Mr. Edgerton was an active vestryman and Senior Warden of St. Paul's Episcopal Church. He was the architect of its edifice that for so many years occupied the northeast corner of Jefferson and Mason streets, where the Layton Art Gallery now stands. His eldest daughter having married and settled in Chicago, her family soon followed her. There Mr. Edgerton entered the great silence December 9, 1886, followed by his devoted wife on August 16, 1910. Both have their last sleep in beautiful Forest Home Cemetery, Milwaukee. The bell which tolls the arrival of its guests was his gift to old St. Paul's Church; and daily on the sanctified air of that loveliest of resting places it sends forth its mellow requiem notes for Benjamin Hyde Edgerton, his wife, and a daughter (Mrs. Gertrude Edgerton Faulkner), and for many pioneers of Wisconsin. Two sons and a daughter of Mr. Edgerton still live in Chicago, besides other descendants. The information contained in this biographical sketch has been compiled by them.

JAMES OTTO LEWIS

Correspondence with John F. Lewis of Philadelphia has elicited additional material concerning the life of James Otto Lewis, the artist author of the famous Aboriginal Portfolio. This, with earlier information in the possession of the Society, enables us to give a brief sketch of his life. He was descended from a highly respected German family of the name of Ludewig, from Hall Suabia, members of which for several generations had held important offices in different towns of the province. His father, John Andreas Philip Ludewig, emigrated to Philadelphia in 1784 and Anglicized the name. James Otto Lewis was born in that city February 3, 1799. His mother was Anna Maria Clingman. He married Sophia Pelletier in Detroit, Michigan, and they had seven children-four daughters and three sons. His wife died in 1837, and later he married Mrs. Cvnthia Moody in New York. Lewis died in New York in 1858.

James Otto Lewis was a pioneer and a soldier. In early life he took part in the defense of Schuylkill against the British in the War of 1812 and later was engaged in the Black Hawk War. He was a friend of General Cass and accompanied him and other Indian commissioners as draughtsman for the Indian Department to the Treaty Grounds at Prairie du Chien in 1825, Fond du Lac, Green Bay, Mississinewa, and Fort Wayne in 1827. These